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How you can use these notes

Too much detail? Refer tothe family tree on page2 first, to get the essence afur findings

Research This is not intended foremeral reading. It is for serious researchers. There are standardized
headings and depoints that are a framework into which new details may be placed so that the document

can be occasionally updated.
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available on the internetwe have not yet directly researchedanyoriginal physical records.
Searching You can search this PDF document using Control/F, and relevant key word.
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Our interest in these memoirs is that John Macleod mentions Donald Cameron, sawmiller of Achnacarry, who is likely
to be the grandfather of Christina McPhee, who is a centrguré of the family history website
www.christinaanddonaldmclean.cam

The challenge:

1 Family tree:What relationship was there between JoMacleodand DonaldCameror? John indicates that
Donald was his greagreatgrandfather. John also mentions ethrelatives, buthe discusses therim the
context of their religious affiliations rather thadetailing hiskinship He does notsupplyall the names.He
focuses on hiy 2 (i K GtNaRthan his fathe® kinship. John Macleod® ancestryhas not been fond on any
on-line genealogies, so we have createdree withdetails from his memoirs Now,
have a look at this charpége?2), to help you make sense of the following notes.

1 Can we rely on the accuracy dfis memoir? Yes, we can depend on it becaumse
whole document is impressive in the way it meticulously deals with all the details.

Biographies:
1 In Banner of Truth and Wikipedia.
1 Phowo: From Banner of Truth
Memoirs

1 John wrote his memoirs i©1936¢ recalling events of the late 180@s1d includiry stories he had been told of
earlier times. Mese were published5 years aftehisdeath, by hisgrandson, JFM MacLeod

 JFMMcleodQa ljdzt t AFTAOFGA2ya NS a! [[. FYyR KS gl a OKAS

1 [Research Contact JFM or $ifamily to enquire whether they have more information about the Madl

family tree]
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This chart was created by Don Gordon in July 2020. It is based on

I

G! 02@8K22R A \Fort Wiliad]S Nab By he hyat@rincipal dhn MacLeod ¢ by JFM Macleod
{2dz2NDOSY We¢NI yal OtAazya 2F DFESEAO {20ASGe 2F Ly
DDD 3N} YRLI NByGaQ 3| Mae |[GAzy
Cameron
¢ miller in
. R ; R Aviemore
DD 3INJ YRLI NByuaQ EIS)[SI&]‘ aOAZ2Y
Ewen (Hugh)| Christian Donald Jane
MacMillan Cameron Cameron Robertson
aged 101 yrs 1746-1842 - miller in from
Achnacarry Aberdeenshire
Married Married
DNBF G 3INI yRLI NBy Done_tld Jane |5 4 / KN ¢ JohnOag
MacMillan | Cameron Cameron| McPhee
17651845 from from from Clieff
Achnacarry Achnacarry
| Married Married 1786
x & i John Mary Christina | Donald
D NJ y R Llgeddsafiana Q Macmaster | MacMillan
21836 C17941872 McPhee | MclLean
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Married 18 Married c1810
tF NBydaQ 3ISysS .
&~
Donald | Catherine | | Unknown Donald Alexaner  Isabella
Macmaster John
Cattanach |Macmaster Macmaster Macleod| MacMaster
18137 18217 Macmaster
2-1910 18341889
Married Married 1863
John Mary
Matheso| MaclLeod
Married
W2 Ky Qa Sy SNI ﬁgéy
1 Mrs Kinnaird Margaret John Donald Female
1 Mar Matheon | Macleod Macleod Macleod
y 18641932 18721948 1875
1 Alexander : \
Married 1898 .
T Ewen the memoirs fo

leod was assisted:

For the finglization

publication,

1 ByWCa O2dzaAry | f
ht have heen aon orgrandsorof

| KA f QNBYQ&%\&(})\EY

Isobel Male Donald Ma -
T ByaRl dzZ3KUuSNJ] 2F WC
Macleod Macleod first cousin, Mrs\Jeanie MacMaster g
L o ~ - 1 . R Stewart/ She might be greatgrand
DN YROKA f RNB y y' S NJ daughger ofeither DonaldVlacMaster
JFM or John MacMastermnd might have
Macleod married a Mr Stewart.
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Basics

! John Macleodvas born on 2% March 1872 in Lundavra House, Fort Willigp224) and id on11th July
1948 buried at The Grange CemetenyEdinburgh{Wikipedia)

Residences:

il

= =4 -8 —a 8 _a 9

Education:
1

f

He lived in Fort Willliam as a young child. Lundavra House was on the south side of High Street, Fort
William. It was almost opposite the B&tevis Hotel and first to the west of the post office and at its west

side a lane led to a courfThe house becae a ruin and was pulled down about the early 1930s §p22

About 1877, when John was five or six years old, his family went to live in ohe bbtises of the old

I NNR&2Yy 2F C2NI 2AffAlFYoD LG ¢l a&a ySEG R22NJ G2 ¢
Aberdeen for secondary schooling from 1885 to 1887.

Belfast

He was living in Ullapool Lochbroom at the time of his wedding in 1838endixD).

Edinburgh

USA & Canada about 1904

Inverness

Canada 1935

In 1885, he went to Aberdeen (p270) for his secondary education in the Aberdeen Grammar School (p224).
He was dux in his final year, 1887 (Banner of Truth).

oHe studied classics witlistinction at Aberdeen University 1880, graduating with first cladsonours at

the age of just eighteen years. He then spent a year at New College, Edinburgh, studying divinity. There
followed two years on the staff of the Nicolson Public Schoobim@&tvay, Lewis, which enabled him to
become fluent in Gaelic, of which had had only a rudimentary knowledge 6 . L y'y S ND

Gl I @Ay3 06S3dzy R Fr@erCfivrch Eollepiisdappashicn tokhg Ddtlar&ory Act passed by

the Free Church of Scotla@Eneral Assembly in 189all¢o his continuing his studies in divinity at the
Assembly's Collegdelfast, the Theological College of tfgesbyterian Church in Irelandhere he
obtained first place in Ecclesiastical History and Bibliddl @ A (@ikigedia)

oHe resumed divinity in 1894 at the Belfast Theological College of the Irish Presbyterian Chingh, hav
meanwhile affiliated himself with the Free Presbytei@rurch, for he was one of the Free Church students
who sided with theFree Presbyterian secession after the passing of the Free Church Declaratory Act of
MYy dHDP 9@FSNI GKS oONREEAFYG aiddzRSyidz al Of S2RQa TFA\
Ecclesiastical History and Biblical Critiéismo . . y'y S ND

Churchaffiliation:

1

Career:
1

= =

dn May 1893, when th&ree Church of Scotlandnfirmed the Declaratory Act passed by its General
Assembly of 892 to be a binding constitutional Act, which modified the Westminster Confession of Faith
to which the Free Church adherde, was one of a number of Free Church divinity students to jeifrée
Presbyterian Church of Scotlamehich separated in Protest at this change in the constitétfavikipedia)

0A ane time member of the Gaelic Society of Inverness, played armotmiole in the religious and
educational affairs of his day. He was, as a student, involved in the founding of the Free Presbyterian
ChurcHFP] but later on transferred his allegiancette Free Church of Scotland. During the course of his
ministry of the Free North Church in Inverness, he also became chairman of the Inghinegducation
Authority. In 1930 he moved to Edinburgh, as Principal of the Free Church&ollégeJH H n 0 ©®

& b served as Moderator of the General Assembly of the/Fii¢@zNIO K 2 TWikip€da)i f | y R £

dln 1896 he was licensed to preach the Gospel by the Northern Presbytery of the Free Presbyterian Church
of Scotland.His first charge was Lochbroom, UllapdolRoss and Cromarty (1891001),where he met

and married Magaret Macleod Matheson in April 1898uring this time he was appointed the Clerk of
Synod, the supreme court of his churdte was translated to the congregationKames, Agyll (1901

1905). Towards the end of his time at Kames, he was sent as a church deputy to congregations in Canada
and met the celebrated theologid® B. Warfieldluring a visit taPrinceton Theological Seminanythe

United States of AmeriégWikipedia).
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I d&On 19 Dec 1905 he was received into Fhee Church of Scotlaatl a Commission oits General
Assemblyand at the General Assefgbin May 1906 he was appointed Professor of Greek and New
Testament Exegesis in the Free Church College, Edialfuitipedia).

T § A0SyaSR o0& KAa /KSIMDOKQAE w2ddiK SWaek adRicbiddn2 R s T
pool, in Ross and Cramty (18971901)Y> . Medwas then called to Kames in Argyll, where he ministered for
five years from the beginning of 190lowards the end of his time at Kames, Macleod was amongst those
sent to Canada taninister to the churches there; the trip includesime time in the United States, and a
memorable visit to Princeton Seminary, where they met B. B. Warfield . . yy S ND

1 dWhen the remnant Free Church of Scotland, after the union in 1900 between the Uegbgt€rians and
the Free Church majority, repealénd Declaratory Act of 1892, Macleod and several colleagues felt it their
duty to return to their old church, into which they were admitted in Decemberé1906 . I Yy S ND

1 OAt the General Assembly in 1906 Jéhacleod was appointed Professor of Greek and Negtament
Exegesis in the Free Church College, Edinburgh. During his time there, he ably represented his Church i
delegations to South Africa (1907) and the Netherlands (89119 . I Yy S ND

1 dn 1913 he acceptka call to the pastorate of the Free North Churictverness. While in the northern
capital, he served for several years as Chairman of the then Invesinies€Education Authority, in which
role he particularly encouraged the use of Gaelic and the tagabli Domestic Science. He was for some
time alsoan Inspector of Religious Instruction in various Highland counties. During his Inverness ministry,
he and his wife were able to make a ledkgsired trip to the Holy Land (1926), and a visit to Australia; Ne
Zealand, Canada, and the USA. (1828)6 . . Yy S ND

1 dn 1920 John Macleod was made Moderator of the Free Church General Assembly, and he was further
honoured when hialma materconferred the degree of Doctor of Divinity upon him in 1927. That same
year he vas appointed Principal of the Free Church Colladlewing the death of Dr J D MacCulléch
(Banner)

9 OAfter seventeen years ministry in Inverness, in 1930 Macleod was recalled to the teaching staff of the
College as Professor of Apologetics and Pasfdrablogy, a position which he was to hold uritihdalth
forced his retirement in 1943. The loss of his wife, Margaret, in 1932, was a severe blow, but that same
year he was delighted by a visit paid to him by J. Gresham Machen of Westminster TheBkmicaly.
Associations with other defenders ofettReformed faith were maintained some through a special
lectureship set up in 1937 in the Collegmen such as Oswald T. Allis, William Childs Robinson, Cornelius
Van Til, John Murray, Auguste Lecerf] &artyn LloydJones. Another overseas trip wasdeao Canada
in 1935, when he was accompanied by his daughter, I6abe&d . I Yy S ND

1 dn 1939, on the tenth anniversary of the founding of Westminster Theological Seminary, he was invited to
deliveraseriesai LISOA L f £ SOGdzNBa 2y inR&atich tTRURIOHIStoR) Sirae thell A a
WST2NNI GA2Yy QT AY t KAfFRSELKAF® 'y SRAGAZ2Y 2F (KS
Trust in 1974 and 2015 &ottish Theology. Duringishtrip he also preached for W. Childs Robinson at
Columbia Theological Seminary in Decatur, Georgia, and gave addresses in various other locations in the
USAandCanada 6. I Yy SND @

1 &John Macleod celebrated his jubilee in the ministry in 1947. He died rdydaied peacefully on the
Sabbath morningof 1108 mdopny > FyR FFGSNI I &AYLX S Fdzy SNI £ &
Grange cemetedy 6. L Yy SND

Writing

1 Bcottish Theology in relation to Church HisteryBanfier of Truth Trusgdinburgh, 1974.
1 Y{2YS CI| @2 e&dhetiod TruthZreugediiburgh, 1988.
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Parents:

|l

= =

Alexander Macleodfather)Y ¢KS YSY2ANBR RAR y20 YyIYS KAY odzi &
(appendixD0 ® W2KyQa FFIGKSNRAE FlFYAf@& NR2GA 6SNB aAy VYA
Preventative Officer in the Customs and Excise (p224ganing stone in theld Kilmalie burial ground has:
¢Alexander Macleod died in Edinburgh Jufen3p m(p272)

NOTE: Is this the burial ground opposite @erpachchurchin Lady Margaret Dre?
Isabella McMaste(mother)Y ¢KS YSY2ANR RAR y2id yIYS KSNJ odzi 3
(appendixD). She was brn in Stornawayandbelonged to the Macmasters of Corriebeg (p22#)a @ Y 2 (1 K SN
was her youngest daughter and the secomdiygest of her childrén 0 LJHAdedning stone in theld
YAE YL ftAS 0 diNkdmbry d Nabala/ Rfe 6f Aléxdhder Macl&adt William, born Stornoway,
June 28 1834, Died Fort William Aprif®3l88% (p271).
Marriage: Alexander andabella were married in 1863 (p270)
W2Ky 3IF@S y2GKAYy3 2F KA&a FTFEAIKSNRa {Ay odzi I+ @3S RS
must have thought that his mother was knowledgeable about kinship and the Cameron clan because he
commented,df | had early enough taken an interest in these things, | could have learned much about these
from my mother but she was gone before | thought of the connection in which we were with the various
FILYAfASAa 2F [20KFO0SNJ gK2 gSNBE 2dzNJ NBY23GS O2dzaiyaté

Siblings:

1 Brother. Donald Macleod; born 26" March 1875 in Lundavra House, Fort William (p227)

1 Sister: FEemale Macleod John stated that his sister hadtable cloth which their greagrandmotherhad
made in Achnacarry under the instructionJahe Robertson wife of Donald Caneron (p237).NOTE: We
hawe found that her grat granrdmotherwas dneCameron, andahe Robertson was he6G gradmother.

1 Margaret Mathesonborn about 1865 because she was 33 years old when she married in 189@asShe
the daughter oMary MaclLeod John Mathesorwho was a general merchafppendixD). Margaret
died in 1932 (p224).

1 Wedding John & Margaret were married in the Palace Hotel in Inverness'bA@@ 1898 AppendixD).
He was 26 years old and shas33 years. They were both living in Ullapool, bombm where he was
the minister for the Free Rsbyterian Church The ministerfor the weddingwas John R MacKay FP
minister in Gairloch. Witnesses were Donald Beaton & Catherine?? Halbert???

NOTESThe wedding arrargments are surprising. Theyere married in Invernessvhen they were
living 90kms north west in Ullapool. Also the minister was from a longavesy. And why did they
get married in a hotel rather than a church even though John Himses a ministe?

NOTES=P =Free Presbyrian Church

Children:

1 Isobel MacleodBanner)

Uncle & auns-

1 John Macmaster antllary McMillanhad five children (p272)The probable sequence w&atheringborn
1821), Donald, Unknown, Isabell (born 18343 dohn.

1 CatherineMacmaster& Donald Cattanackidaughterof JohnMacmaster & Mary McMillan): dDonald
[ FTGaGryOK gFa YFENNASR (2 Y& ldzyd /I GKSNRAYS gK2 gl
years between them in age, the one being born in1182d[he] the other in 1813. Catherine married in
1841. Shewasofavdry G ASy G FyR a6SSi RAALIRAAGAZY D { &S RA
marriageé O LJACSING a2y Ay €l g 52y FER /FGGFyl OK buREgl &
(p269).

1 DonaldMacmaster(son ofJohnMacmaster& Mary McMillan): ¢éHer son Donald who was minister of Black
in Lewig (p269).

1 Unknown Macmaste¢child of John Macmaster & Mary McMillan):

1 JohnMacmaster(son of JohnMacmaster & Mary McMillar): d&The youngest John who was only a few
weeks old when his father died wentltodza G NI f A | (@269 dzSSy af | yR

NOTE: John must have been named after his father, as his father was aboug tautliwhat year?
1 & our of the children pursued their scieht® 6 Sy G 'y R @XF®I YS R2002NAE¢
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First ousins:

1

Female Cattaach 0 / | G KSNA Y S al O&MrsdkinGandniy cousihiknad tReYoldest of the
[ FGdrylFrOKa Xo {KS f2ai0 KSN) Kdz&AaolyR FyR KSNINOKACf
her young married life her home was in Edinbérghd LMrKwnai®is | & LINRPol of & | RSIFO
congregation in Edinburgh (p271).
Mary Cattanach(Catherinea | O Y | &chif)N&&r daughter Mary who married a school master in
Newtonmore was foalmost seven years brought up by my mother and as one of them. Skéttvésem
until she was eighteen years 6lp270).

NOTE: Shmust have been born about 1856 if shesalmost7 years oldvhen her mother died

in 1863. She was then bought upW2 Kne@ymarriedmother and she was there until she was

18 years al in 1874¢ and this was soon after John was born in 1872.
Alexander Cattanach / I 4§ KSNA y S a | O YnketalfoSANIadder Gikom i Buindrvery kinde
was the banker at KingésA (B271).

NOTE: lItis not certain that Alexanderwas 0 KSNA Y SQa az2y o
EwenCattanachd / | G KSNRA Y S al @Y IKS[JoriMasa bOyKoh thirkeénY! first went away
FNRBY K2YS |yR aLISyid I K2f ARIFe& ¢6A0K ovgestGahp2dl)y 9 4 S

Other cousins:
91 For thefinalizationof the memaoirs for publicatio, JFM Macleodvas assistedby his cousin Allan Maclepd
andl RFdZAKGSNI 2F KAA& 3INI YRTI askroNaewvartpRNE i O2dzaAAy > a

Allan Macleod Allanmight be a grandson of Donald Macleod, born 1875
JeanieStewart, neeMacMaster Shemight be a great grandaughter of Donald MacMaster and
might hae married a Mr Stewart

Grandparents:
f MaryMacMilland Y2 G KSNR& Y200 KSNDY Alf Yi 1 WMSY D daNR 2 yf SesBNP diy K

= =

besice her mother Mary daughter of Donald MacMillan, Corriegbeg and wife of John MacMaster SPCK
GSHFOKSNI { 2N 2@ &E OIOKMAHRD 2F F62dzi SAIKEG Y2y (K&
husband alré & (i KA NJb &JH & byl O ¥ & k& BB Es\siBeMitei@ i6 & tiddition of English home
SRdzOF GA2Yy F2NJ GKS INGBELSNI LI NI 2F G2 OSyddzZNASace

NOTES: This implies that she had an English education at home, rather than, perhaps, a Gaelic

educaion at a school.

Birth: She was 78 years old &rhshe died in 1872 so was born about 1794.

Death: She diedat the age of 78 year# Fort Willianmon 5" Decemberl872 (ie 8 months after John

was born p269) @ppendixC). Cause of death wasronchitis.

[ResearchSPCK might be the Society Rmomoting Christian Knowledgebut this is doubtful so

needs to be checked]
John MacMasteé Y2 (i KS NI F!I (fKSINDA Y3 ali2yS Ay GKS hrésRB YA
beside her mother Margaughter of Donald MacMillan, Corriegbeg awife of John MacMaster SPCK
GSFOKSNI {(i2Ny26l &8¢ OLHTHOOD Ga®@ INIYRFIGKSNI X0 ¢
his medical knowedge as he did in the various places in which he taughtust have come back to
Lochaberabout181Ba A G 6+ & | 62dzi O KI (p268) FHe tellovie hisifathiérdn trig@ 2 (Y
faith of John Newton and converted his wife to thiadition (p269. His occupdabn as a schoolmaster is
confirmed in his rarriage recordgppendixB).

NOTE: Banffshire is north of Aberdeen.

Death: John died about 1888e his wife died in December 1872 and the memoir (p239) states that

he died 36 years beforeer.
Wedding: Mary and John were married orf2Rune 1819appendixB).
Place:The OPR for their wedding record Johmi&Sorriebeg where he was a schoolmastéhe memoirs
stated that he had beernteachingin Banffshireand then came bacto Lochaber where he got married
(p267). Corriebegis mentioned twi§€ Ay W2 Ky a | OFir§lg IBafeila (tMeSmothér htElohn
Macleod and thedaughter of Mary MacMillan and John Macmasteras born in Storoway, but is
described agbelongng to the Macmasters of Corriebé@p224. Secondlyw2 Ky a | Omathedini S N &
law, Donald MacMillanwas associated with Corriebeg (p2y¢ so maybethis is whereMary wasliving
when Johnwas a teachethere. TheClan Cameron reference guidaséCorrybeg/Corriebeg/Corie Beag:
X A small settlement on the northeshoreof Loch Eil, toward its head (Lochielsidefiome to a branch
of the MacMasters Clan which was affiliated with Clan Cametdpon the Estate of Lochiel, circa 1745,
with MacMaster tenant€  (http://www.clan-cameron.org/carref.html). Also,
https://geographic.org/streetview/scotland/highland/kinlocheil.htm lists  Corriebeag, Corriebeg,
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Corriebeg Cottage and Corriebeg Fg&nCorriebeg railway station]all at thesame location as PH33 7NP.

It isbetweenKinlocheiland Fessfern, but nearest to Kinlochdi is not shown on current Google maps.
Now, piecing all this together, it seems that Jdied previously been living ibochaber and then was
teaching inthe high partof Banffshire(north of Aberdeen), and canteack and was teaching at Ciebeg

where he met Mary and thewere married there. Fifteen years later, they were in Stornoway where
Isabella was born.

Interestindy, at the same time that John and Mary were at Corriebeg, Christina McPhee and Donald
McLean, were just across the loch at Duiskyvas a six km walk around the eastern end of LochMElty

and Christina were first cousingheir mothers were sistex- so there was probdly some contact between

the families.! &G GKS GAYS 2F al NBEQ&A FyR W2KY chidrems(BuRdvd y 3 =
had died).

Great grandparents

f Donald MacMillard Y2 (i K SN & Y #l§akelidjasta beJide han@hedMary daughter of Donald
al OQaAfftlys [/ 2NSRFICGRIKRASHRHAYO mynp ol a 2SNl yn |
YR 0S4ARS KAY Y& LINByida INB fFARE OLHHCOO®

NOTE: He was born before 1765 if he was over 80 years old when ha d&4bi.
He was an Excigéfficer @ppendixC).
f JaneCameron Y2 (il KSND & Y 2 wilé & Ranald WaeMill&ghS NJ

hy LI 38 Hoc 2F (GKS YSY2ANRI W2Ky YSylAizya wWyeé
NBEFSNB (2 KSNI Ia WikRAGNIOIATK (EEND INSIY I KBENIAYER
Robertsory ie, she was the daughter of Jane Robertson and Donald Cameron.
{KS Ydzald oS | &aA&adiSNI2F 2dzNJ / KNAAGQY X oSOl dza s
The death record of her daughter (Mary Maclstil) shows that her name was JargpendixC
Unfortunately, apart from her mention in the death record of her mother, we have not found any
ht waQ F2NJ OANIGKSE YIFINNNAFISET OKAf RNBY 2NJ KSNJ 2¢

GGgrandparents:

! Ewen MacMillamd Y2 § KSND & Y 8 fatkeH:Nheie wasl algfai yadd above tlewél fields of
Dt SYyyS@Aaa CI N)Y @Qlf Aty S6FE VY €RIkYA &S FGadzNAyF G INR dzy R L OF
great-grandparents are buried Ewen (Hugh) MacMillan and his wife Christina Cameron. Hel@a
when he died. His wife, whom my motmeight remember died in 1842 at the age of 96. She may have
beenevenoldec¥ 2 NJ Y& 3ANBIF G 3INIYRFIGKSNE KSNI a2y 52yI R

NOTE: Glennevis is near Ben Nevis.

NOTEChristina was born before 1746 if she mighte been older than 96 years old when she died
in 1842,

[ResearchVisit this burial ground to get photos and more details]

f Christian Camerann theGlennevisburial groundO I £ f SR W ¢32fYA ySiirStlisyb@yfal giound |
OFYS G2 (1y26 0KI-grandparents aré iubelBvien @NS) MacMillan and his wife
Christina Cameron. He was 101 when he died. His wife, whom my mother might remember died in 1842
at the age of 96. She may have hewen older for my great grandfather, her son Donald died in 1845
g a 2@GSNI yn |G 6KABK ARSI GOKKEF (0 LY4eH cONE Y RTF G KSNDa Y2
have connection with Kilmallie, Gairlochy and Glennevis (p267).2 (i K 2 a8l at@Kibchy weh)

GKS /FTYSNRya 2F 520KIylaairso tKSe 6SNB alLkRi|Sy 2
NOTE: Dochanassie is along se@theastern shore of Loch Lochy near Spean Bridge.
f DonaldCamerod Y2 i KSNRa Y2iKSNRE WENG K RNEREtHES DahaoSOsieYon,
GKS YAtESNIIG ! OKyFOFNNE gl a 2F GKSasS {GNYGKaLISe
GLY [2O0KFOSNJ GKAa aSLIi 2F GKS /I YSNRya 6SNB 27FGS
TomeasandA YYSAY OLHCTO® aLd g & cenfirg tNdi DodaldICanie®riNthel K S
Miller at Achnacarry under the Commissioners of the Forfeited Estates brought to Lochaber his young wife
Jane Robertson. She belonged to an upper class famiibeideenshire. When she was sent to Aberdeen
to finish her education, she came to know her future husband who was then in that city learning the trade
2T F YATEONRAIKGOD ¢KS @2dzy3d F2t1 G221 G2 2yS |y?
See D57 fothe biography of Donald Cameron.
Strathspey is around the River Spey which is 12 kms northwest of Aviemore which in turn is 25 kms
north west of Newtonmore.
1 Jane Robertsori Shé belonged to an upper class family in Aberdeenstiiteen she was sent to Atakeen

to finish her education, she came to know her future huslvetmal was then in that city learning the trade

of wheelwright. The young folk took to one another and they emdunawy matchShe came to Lochaber

with no Gaelic but learned the languagetyso as to speak it always as an acquired one. Disowned, she
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from herself a course of English and practical educatitikelyshe had a course iberdeen of what used
G2 0S5 Ol ft SRQshe ta®ht mKdreatYrafdi@dther to spin and weave linen and my sister
still has a tablecloth which this daughter madshe grew the flax, scutched it, spun it ,and then wove it.
Home industries couat for something in those days. It was something more than fancy work. People
depended on their own initiative and enterprise. In those days this was an uncommon thiagnthale
family boys and girls should get an English education in the fastnegildfochaber.There were in the
extensive parishes of Kilmallie and Kilmonivaig a few S.P.C.K. schools where the education was being giver
in English only. These howevegtrthe needs of anyone who was within reach of them. One should not
forgetthee 1 Sy i 2F (KS&S 02y (Ay3Idz2 dza (I2B6RRAIADK S &= GKS (6
See D57 for the biography of Jane Robertson.
Jane and Donaldloped from Aberdeen to Achnacgrwhich is near Loch Arkaig.
Waed AMNBYRY2ZIKSNR Aa WIeCameion RiowdbK duSfandilyarke2 A a Wi
White seam igractical household skills, focusing on plain sewing
Scutching is separating the flax fibers from the woody pattdiymering it.
Credibility: This extract is our only source about Jane Robertsiimiportant to us because it links
KSNJ G2 52yFEfR /I YSNRY YR GKSNBF2NB: S (GKAY]:
memoirs is a fourtthand account John must have based it amat he remembers being told by his
mother (Isabella),rbm what she remembers she had been told by his grandmother (Marydidtb
when John was a baby), who in turn had heard these stories from when her mother (Female
Camerom ¢+ & F €AGGES FIANI @ 554LAGS dGKAaaessS | O
meticulouslyrecorded.

f Children: DonaldCameronand JaneRobertsonhad at least two daughters / KNA & 4 Qy 'y R W
/| KNAAGQY S (GKAA oI &s. Bo HahOtSvBEs sduited WigttHe yomBinatioS of e memoirs
FYR KSNJ RIzRKHUBRBRARRS 2SS KI @S y2i F2dzy R GKS aira
and birthplace (but we assume Achnnacarry).

TKSNBE | NBE y2 ht daheb&cudEthéreKaN@PRSN Qafish lofiiRallie are missing
Howe\er, there arenine contendersfor their sibling267. All have their father as Donald MacMillan.
Three have the mothefanet Robertsonborn in1762, 1765 1768- all in Blair Athol. Six have the
mother Janet (no surname)in 1763, 1783, 1785, 1790, 17931&96- all born inFortingall. Blair
Atholislocation 155kmswest of Aberdeen and 10ms east of Achncarryfortingallis located42

kms south of Blair Athpll75 kms southwest of Aberdeeand122 southeast of AchnacarryBlair

Athol andFortingall are too far from\berdeen and Achnacarry to be compatible with where Donald
and Jane met (Aberdeen) or where they lived in their married life (Achnacarry). We believe that
I KNAAGQY @6l & 02Ny Ay MTTMI &2ewvitkiRingharNiblikggu A y G |
the births in 1790s are improbable. Unless other corroborative details can be are found, none of the
nine appear to be part of this family. BISCOUNTED

O Alexander Cameron, son of Donald Cameron & Janet RoberirFeb1762 in Blair Athol

MargaretCameron, daughter of Donald Cameron & Jarigt" July 1763 in Fortingall

Marjory Cameron, daughter Donald & Janet Robertsa@" April 1765 in Blair Athol

Grissel Cameron, daughter of Donald & Janet Rober&8duly 178 in Blair Athol

Catharine @meron, daugther of Donald Cameron & Jan@&t June 1783 in Fortingall

Angus Cameron, son of Donald Cameron & Jap@f Nov 1785 in Fortingall

John Cameron, son of Donald Cameronf & JaB&tDec 1790 in Fortingall

EwenCameron, son of Donald Carnar& Janet 7" April 1793 in Fortingall

Margaret Cameron, daughter of Donald Cameron & Jaat July 1796 in Fortingall

(olje o Jo YolNo Yo JoNe)

GGG grandparents:
! MaleCamerad Y2 i KSNRA& Y2 (i KSNDa Y2 (SkéhsgeyaCamdronsatdNissa mifldr i K S
in Avemore (p267)

Cameron clan
f &0 o6la 2F (GKSasS /I YSNRya (KIFIGd GKS YI yeé Sktfleseiwkol i vy
buried at Gairlochy were the Camerons of Dochanassie. They were spoken of as Na Dochaidh. | think my
IANJ Yy RY 2 (i K S[QHBistian X amerforiak) of Dochaidh so that we have a connection with Kilmallie,
DI ANI 2 OK& (p67D NGT#:VhE @it Being made here is that the the Camerons in this part of the
family tree are from Kilmallie (Donald Cameron in Achancarry) ando@ajr(Christian Cameron buried in
Dt SyyS@graoo It a2 52y f RMmshdrtiiedsSoNevitdn@ore2 T | OA SY 2 NB

..000000..
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Appendices

Extracts frontt! 62 & K2 2 R A JFort William]S Nab By khe at@rincipal John
Macleod ¢ by JFM Macleod

{ 2 dzNDeaBs¥ctioHs ofaelic 8OA S & 2 F 224yfa2B2NGN 5 Apabal 993 LJ

The wholearticle is available via the home page of www.christinaanddonaldmclean.com

PagelO

Marriage ofJohn Macmaste€ariebeg& Mary MacMillanon 224 June 1819
01819¢ June 2Z; John MacMaster schoolmaster@ebegand Mary MacMillan theré
Source: Scotlands People, Marriages, 520/ 20 262, p262 of 235

Pagel4d

O

Deathof Mary Macmaster5" Dec 1872n Fort William
{2dzNOSY {O020f I yR@skerstdSatheF2@55 { (I ( dzii 2 NB

Pagel5

Marriage ofJohnMacleod& MargaretMathesonon 26" April 1898 at The Palace Hotel Ness
Walk Inverness

Source: Scotlands People, Marriage registers, 098/ 75

Pagel6
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| have been asked to introduce this evening’s paper which |
must, at the outset, stress is not my work but rather that
which remains of 2 writing in the hand of my late
grandfather. It is right to give some preliminary inkling as to
both the man and this particular writing.

My grandfather was born in Fort William in 1872 and spent
his entire boyhood there before proceeding for his secondary
cducation to Aberdeen Grammar School, His mother,
slthough bom in Stornoway, belonged to the old Lochaber
family of the Macmasters, Corriebeg. His father who had
come to Fort William as a Preventive Officer in the Customs
& Excise had his family roots in Kirkhill and Urray. Both
parents could speak Gaelic but, as will become apparent,
Gaclic was not the language of the home.

My grandfather, a one time member of the Gaelic Society
of Inverness, played a prominent role in the religious and
educational affairs of his day. He was, as u student, involved
in the founding of the Free Presbyterian Church, but later on
transferred his allegiance to the Free Church of Scotland.
During the course of his ministry in the Free North Church in
Inverness, he aiso became chairman of the Inverness-shire
Education Authority. In 1930 he moved to Edinburgh as
Principal of the Free Church College and in 1932 he was, at
the age of 60, widowed. Some four years later he settled
down to write a brief account of his early life. This extended
1o 14 pages of close-written material which form this paper.
These are very characteristic of the man as | remember him,
much interested in education whilst at the same time forceful
in his evangelical persuasion, The views expressed are, as
will therefore be understood, those of grandfather in his day
and generation.

1 also indicated that | would touch on the provenance of the

224

AppendixA

This is an extract. The full document can
20lFAYSR @Al W/ 2yl O
www.christinaadndonaldmclean.com.

The extract is a selection of pages relevant tg
family treeq at the end of this exfaict. The family
tree was created by Dondgdon in July 2020. It is
based these memoirs and some other sourg
guoted throughout.
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paper, At the time of grandfather’s death in 1948, his
personal papers were passed to the Reverend Mr G. N. M,
Collins, Minister of St Columba's Free Church in Edinburgh
who availed himself of them when writing a biography. Some
two years ago Mr Collins, latterly Professor Collins, died and
his desk in turn required careful tidying out. This task was
undertaken by Miss lrene Stewart 2 member of his former
congregation and, at the same time, a daughter of my
grandfather's first cousin, Mrs Jeanic Macmaster or Stewart.
Rene readily recognised the source and the significance of the
papers and forwarded them 10 me. | in turmn discussed them
with Mr Hugh Barron who set himself the work of
deciphering grandfather’s handwriting and producing a fair
copy. This in turmm hss been much worked over by both my
cousin Mr Alan Macleod and myself. The result is the
following insight into nineteenth century Fort William which
we all three of us present for your attention this evening.

April 8th 1936

My memory goes buck to early days in Fort William where
I was born on the 25th day of March, 1872. The house where
my parents then lived was known as Lundavra House. It was
the old town house of the Lundavra family who were cadets
of the Lochiel family, The house became a ruin a fow years
ago and was pulled down. It stood on the south side of the
High Street almost opposite what was then and may be still
known as the Ben-Nevis Hotel, the lessee of which in my
boyhood was Alexander Boyd. The house of my birth was
first to the west of the present Post Office and at its west side
a lanc led up to a court behind which two families of
Macphees lived. One of them represented the decayed
fortuncs of what used to be the chief family of the Macphees
of Glendessary. In that glen which has only a family or two
now there used to be twenty three families of Macphees, The
son of this family was at school with me - Duncan was his
name. He is dead a number of years ago. His trade was that of
a tailor, As 1 left Fort William when we were but boys 1 have
kept no trace of his family if he had one, Like almost all boys
in Lochaber in those days he was better known by his

D56- John Macleod's memoirs & family treeveb - Pagel Oof 16



226 Gaelic Society of lnverness

nickname of Nucky. The other Mucphee family was also of
Glendessary extraction. The father was Duncan, and John
who was about two or three years my senior died at Inverness
where he was the agent of the MacBrayne stcamers. There
way a big family of brothers and two sisters but they scattered
and | have no trace of them for years, John who had a good
deal of acquaintance with local Lochaber lore told me on one
¢ jon how he teased two military officers who were proud
of being Camerons. He asked them if they had ever heard
how the Camerons carried out their forays in the old days
which made for Lochaber its name as the home of the cattle
raiders. They had not heard but would like to know. “Well”,
said he, “they took with them for the raid the MacMillans of
Locharkaig side and the Macphees of Glendessary. The
former of these septs were renowned as scouts. If there were
cattle in the countryside, they were sure to find them out and,
when they did so, they came back to the raiding band and
reported. The Macphees were then sent to secure the cattle”,
“And what did the Camerons do?" was now the question,
“Oh, they drove the beasts home". “It's a lie, it's a lie" was
the indignant comment made by the military men.

When | mentioned the old name of my first house, it calls
up the memories of a time when county towns were the resort
of the better to do county families for the winter season. As
Fort William was the scat of a garmison, it, though no county
town, was the centre of the society of a considerable extent of
country. So other families also had their winter town houses.
There used for example o be nearly opposite the main square
of Fort William what used to be called Achtrinchtan House
which was the winter residence of the Macdonalds of
Achtriachtan in Glencoe and doubtless there were other
similar town houses. Behind Lundavra House there was quite
a good garden. This would appeal to my father who was fond
of gardening.

The memories of these carly years bear no trace of cold or
wet or rough weather, | remember only bright and sunny days
which if the weather of Lochsber was in those years true to
type must have been comparatively few. Perhaps their
fewness made them more marked and noteworthy, I think that

236 Gaelic Sociery of Inverness

mine to a part extent that 1 failed 1o learn from him. Just
about as soon as I was transferred to o really good teacher [
knew the difference and responded fo the stimulus. In my
boyhood there, there were still traditions current about Ewen
MacLachlan and his learning. He died just about fifly years
before 1 was born, Yet eighty years after his death one might
hear of how he got his father who was a poor weaver 1o keep
him at school. The father wanted that he should begin work.
The son wanted to have the chance of becoming a scholar,
The father agreed to gratify him if he would tell him in Latin
how he took his breakfast. The answer was prompt = “cum
porrigibus cum lactibus cum ramshomi spoonibus™, He was
allowed to stay on at school, Ewen was my grandfather's
senior contemporary and no doubt they knew each other well.
There were more schools in Lochaber in those days than the
Fort William one. But the early education of the better 1o do
families was very simple. 1 have had in my hand the well-
thurmbed copy of the English Bible that Miss Jenny Cameron
had as her schoolbook as she went from house to house
among the tacksmen to teach their young folk, It is possible
that this volume is in the hands of Mrs Eadie of Manchester
whose mother showed it 1o me. On my grandmother’s side
there is a tradition of English home education for the greater
part of two centuries. [t was shortly after the middle of the
18th century that Donald Cameron the Miller at Achnacarry
under the Commissioners of the Forfeited Estates brought 1o
Lochaber his young wife Jane Robertson, She belonged 1o an
upper class family in Aberdeenshire, When she was sent to
Aberdeen 1o finish her education, she came 1o know her
future husband who was then in that city learning the trade of
a millwright. The young folk ook 1o one ancther and they
made a runaway match. She came to Lochaber with no Gaelic
but learned the language yel so as 1o speak it always as an
acguired one, Disowned, she went in Lochaber by the name
of A" Bhean Ghallda or the Lowland wife. She saw to il that
her children got from herself a course of English and practical
education. Likely she had a course in Aberdeen of what used
to be called “The White Seam™. She taught my great
grandmother (o spin and weave linen and my sister still has a
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we must have left this house when | was not more than four
years old. | can however recollect once wandering as far from
the front door as 1o meet the edge of the cobbled side walk
which would not be more than four or five yards from the
door. When | reached the side of the street, | looked along it
and the scene was all new to me. It may be that 1 was not
quite two years old then. Memory tells of my playing with
and even chewing a smooth, white quartz pebble outside the
kitchen window and I was no higher than the window sill
which was hardly more than two feet above the ground. In
these early days too | made a fuss in the house by putting a
blue bead up my nostril. It took them some time to get it
down and | rather think it left the mark of its short stay there
upon me for life. | remember also at the back door seeing a
rat caught and beheaded in a trap. On another occasion |
wandered about thirty or forty yards away to the priest’s
house otherwise known as the Vatican, on the west side of
which was a shop kept by my aunt Mrs George Campbell,
There was no one in the shop when | entered. So 1 wandered
in behind the counter and found a tray of small sweet pears
upon the chair. T took one and ate it. | must have been very
little when I did this. Before we left Lundavra House my
brother Donald was born. He is exactly three years and a day
younger than I am. But | quite recollect him as the newcomer,

On the other side of the lanc that led up to the Court to the
west of our house there were two or three low houses. Al the
corner there was a shop kept by an old widow whom |
remember as Bean Sgiridh, She was tall, thin and dark and, as
we as a family tended to be stout built and of only average
height, she advised my mother to draw our necks, This old
body was quite illiterate und had her own method of keeping
the sccounts of her little business. It was primitive but served
her time. 1 think that she was a Mrs MacMillan - on the other
side of the street there lived another family of that name
known ss the Bellishes. James Bellish was a deep sea pilot
and skillful at his work. In the carly days of the Caledonian
Canal, when ships were not 1o any great extent steamers and
when they were of no great size, the services of a pilot for the
ships that came out of the canal going west were often in
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table-cloth which this daughter made. She grew the flax,
scutched it, spun it, and then wove it. Home Industries
counted for something in those days. It was something more
than fancy work. People depended on their own initiative and
enterprise. In those days this was an uncommon thing that a
whole family boys and girls should get an English education
in the fastnesses of wild Lochaber. There were in the
extensive parishes of Kilmallie and Kilmonivaig a few
5.P.C.K. schools where the education was being given In
English only. These however met the needs of anyone who
was within reach of them. One should not forget the extent of
these contiguous parishes, the two largest in Scotland, Their
arca is as extensive as that of almost half a dozen of the
smallest Scottish counties put together. Fort William used to
be a garrison town before my time bul the memory of its
garrison days was still guite fresh in my boyhood. 1 heard
about the good name of the 93rd Highlanders who were on
duty there for some time. When the garrison was withdrawn,
the walls and houses of the old fort remained, and, when 1
was about five or six years old, we went to live in one of the
houses. It was next door to what had been the governor's
house. There tradition still told of how the governor and his
lady kept state over a century age. When he was a junior
officer, he eloped with the daughter of the Marquis of
Tweeddale, Lady Alice. The governor was, [ think, a brother
of the famous Earl of Dundonald. He used 1o be spoken of as
Captain Cochrane, What used (0 be the glacis of the Fort was
called the Glassie. It was parcelled out in gardens. The wall
along the River Nevis was about two feet wide and was coped
with best freestone, How often have [ run from end to end of
it without a tremor, On one occasion | 'remember the tides
gelting into the Fort, It was the night of November 23rd 1852,
There was the greatest gale that [ have ever known and as it
swept up from the south west it heaped the waters of Loch
Linnhe upwards. The water was about a foot deep on our
ground floor and 1 remember how my father corrigd us on his
back upstairs, We had a kind neighbour who had left the
governor's house some time before, | happened to say when
calling on her a liitle afier the storm that it was one 1 should
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a donkey - ure you for sale?” This type of buck chat wus
popular. Our connection with Glasgow and its imps kept us
abreast with the newest slang of Clydebank. If we went to the
Nevis <o bathe, the favourite places were The Craigs with its
deep pool - the new Steps — for more daring swimmers, the
Ram’s Pool and, when we had time (o go there, 1o the pool
above Nevis Bridge which was called after Colin Macinnes
below whose croft it was sited, Linne Chailein. As boys we
used at the proper scason to visil the hazel wood at the
entrance 10 Glennevis and sometimes a shinty maich or a
football one might take us to the level ficlds of Glennevis
Farm -~ once or twice | was in these carly days in the
graveyard above that field — Tom ecas an t-slinnein. In this
burial ground I came to know that my mother’'s great
grandparents are buried ~ Ewen (Hugh) MacMillan and his
wife Christina Cameron. He was 101 when he died. His wife
whom my mother might remember died in 1842 at the age of
96. She may have been even older - for my great grandfather,
her son Donald who died in 1845 was over 80 at his death, He
is buried in Kilmallie and beside him my parents are laid. In
Tom eas an t-slinnein there wias u heavy iron kind of coffin
which was in use over a hundred years ago when the scare
over the misdeeds of Burke and Hare filled the country with
fear of the bodysnatchers. Even an out of the way comer like
quict Glennevis stood in the fear that the freshly buried
bodies might be dug up to provide material for the dissecting
board. This iron frame which could be laid upon a grave had
neither 1op nor bottom. But presumably the grave on which 1t
was laid was walched for several days and nights. If any
attempt were made to tamper with it, the noisc would wam
the watchers by night that mischicf was on foot. In Glennevis
there is another old burial ground called Achnancon. This |
have never gone to sec. But not far from the farm housc
further up than Tom cas an t-slinncin at the foot of the hill is
what we were wont to call The Rocking Stone, Clach nan
turraman. High up above it on the hillside is an old vitrified
fort. This is ncar the gap by which men used to get to Blar
a'chaorainn on the road to Lundavra, It was only once that |
took this highway snd | took it from the Blar a’Chaorainn
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the old days of home simples some of which may be still in
use and is the plant which is used in cases of erysipelas, It is
spoken of in Gaelic as Lus an rds. When it 13 boiled the fluid
may be applied either externally or internally. 1 heard of a
case in which it was a success in.both ways. It was first used
externally. The swelling subsided but came back in three
weeks time as foretold by the prescriber. Then the patient
drank the decoction. The inflammation wenl away and never
came back. My informant in this matter was the late Mr Neil
Cameron who was himsell the patient and who, when the
plant was sent him, was suffering from severe erysipelas yet
was 80 far sceptical as (o the remedy that he tried the outward
application first. Among the old Cameron families in
Glennevis were the forebears of the late Dr. Allan Cameron
of the East Church, Inverness who was a distant cousin of
mine on my mother's side. | have the impression that his
parents were of the old Episcopalians of Lochaber. Their
congregation was the first one in Fort William. It may have
been founded by Allan Cameron of Lundavra who was one of
Bishop Forbes' right hand men. It had a Mr Alexander
MacLennan as its minister about 4 century or more ago, He
was a little man and, as he wore the surplice he got the
nickname by which he was better known than by his own

name, lain Beag a' chotan bhin. Like the clergy of his body

he was always ready 1o baptise, and fugitives from strict
disciplines made their way to him. There was one such parent
who applied 1o him for baptism and in speaking to the cleric
called him, much to his disgust, Maighstir lain, The testy
answer was “Chan e [zin a th® orm, chan eil ann an sin ach
frith ainm a thug blagairdean a’ Ghearasdan orm™ (John is not
my name, that is only a nickname that the blackguards of the
Garrison have given me). 1 have heard that at one time the
chapel had an evangelical man as its incumbent, a rare thing
in the Scottish Episcopal Church. He was a Mr Simpson and [
am told that my grandmother went sometimes 1o hear him of
an evening. This freedom from the tether of church
exclusiveness was quite in keeping with her independence
and her family history., Her mother had been the hostess of
the Haldane preachers and of Finlay Munro. Her husband,
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end. The sides of Glennevis scem to me to have as rich a
coating of grass us any place that | have ever seen. The old
Camerons of this Glen were Clann or Sliochd Shomhairle.
They have been said to have been not Camerons bul
MacDonalds, 1 never, however, came across any of them that
looked on themselves as anything clse but Camerons. It was
of these Camerons that the many of that name who are found
in Upper Strathspey are. They are the children of the Migaich
as they were nicknamed by their new neighbours when they
went to Rothiemurchus about three hundred years ago as the
tail or bodyguard of a daughter of Glennevis who married
Grant of Rothiemurchus, My grandmother’s grandfather,
Donald Cameron, the miller at Achnacarry was of these
Strathspey Camerons, his father being the miller at Aviemore.
In Lochaber this sept of the Camerons were often spoken of
as Na Tomaidh from the fact that they buried in Tom eas an 1-
slinnein, So those who buried at Gairlochy were the
Camerons of Dochanassie, They were spoken of as Na
Dochaidh, 1 think that my grandfather’s mother was of the
Dochaidh so that we have connection with Kilmallie,
Galrlochy and Glennevis, If | had early enough taken an
interest in these things, | could have learned much about
these from my mother but she was gone before | thought of
the connection in which we were with the various families of
Lochaber who were our remote cousins, As | have been
speaking of Glennevis, | may mention that as a boy | once
went there 1o gather bog myrtle, the which I took home for
boiling. The decoction which we called bog myrtle then was
used as a cure for worms in children. It was, | think,
astringent and brown and though not pleasant was not very
unplecasant, As 10 home medicines | remember the use of
hartshom for rubbing and the rhubarb pills which my mother
used to compound in the old mortar that we still have. This
was given to my grandfather about 1818 in the high part of
Banffshire where he was teaching. There he used his medical
knowledge as he did in the various places in which he taught,
He must have come back to Lochaber about 1818 as it was
about that year that he got marricd, The bog myrtle is called
roid in Gaelic. The use of it as a medicine may date back to
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whose convert she was, was through his father in the faith in
the John Newton tradition. She was an out and out Free
Church woman, Yet she was ¢ritical of much in her church
and instead of making an idol of it she once, during the Union
movement of 1863-T3, said that she wondered that the U.P.s
would unite with such a body as the Free Church. With all
this however she was one of the truest of Free Church
women. But churchianity was not put in the place of
Christianity and, though there were lively Christians about
her, thers was a very mixed multitude also that hed no greater
ground of confidence than that they belonged to such and
such a church, With this pious tradition it was little wonder
that such Evangelicals as Ryle and Spurgeon should he
household names with us. T was the last of the grandchildren
that my grandmother lived 1o see. I was a child of about eight
months old when she died. At such an age as | then was |
could scarcely be thought likely to have any memory of her,
She outlived her husband almost thirly six years. My mother
was her youngest daughter and the second youngest of her
children. The youngest John who was only a few weeks old
when his father died went to Australia. His folk had no word
from him since the year after his mother's death when he
went to Queensland. So long as she lived, her house was an
open house of call Tor her Christian friends who were
travelling from the north 1o Glasgow. Until the opening of the
Highland Railway the canal route was much more important
than it came o be afterwards, Her son Donald who was
minister of Back in Lewis somehow thought that, owing to
her attachment to her son in law Donald Cattanach, she had a
leaning (o separatism. All that he could legitimately infer
from the facts was that she was very independent and that
Donald Cattanach, who was not a separatist, was one of the
noted laymen of the Free Church that were held in high
esteem by the remnant of the Separatists about Inverness, and
in particular by the set of Mr Archibald Cook’s admirers who
were spoken of s Cookites, He might almost ad well have
said that his father in law, Big John Macrae had a leaning to
Separatism because of the esteem in which he held the leaders
of the Separatist movement whom he knew about Inverncss.
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